# **RECEIVED**

03-10-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

## **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2016AP000006-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK H. DALTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Orders Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Washington County Circuit Court, the Honorable Todd K. Martens, Presiding.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was Mr. Dalton denied the effective assistance of counsel where his attorney failed to argue that police lacked the exigent circumstances necessary to forcibly draw his blood without a warrant? Did the circuit court err in denying Mr. Dalton's post-conviction motion without a *Machner* hearing?

Trial counsel did not raise this issue prior to Mr. Dalton's pleas. The circuit court denied Mr. Dalton's post-conviction motion for plea withdrawal and suppression of the blood evidence based on the ineffective assistance of counsel without a *Machner* hearing. The circuit court further denied his motion for reconsideration.

2. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion at sentencing when it increased Mr. Dalton's criminal punishment because he chose to exercise his constitutional right to refuse a warrantless intrusion into his body?

The circuit court denied Mr. Dalton's post-conviction motion for resentencing.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Dalton would welcome oral argument should this Court find it helpful. Publication is warranted to help develop the law concerning when police must obtain a search warrant to take a defendant's blood pursuant to *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013), and further to address whether a circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion by increasing

a defendant's punishment for a criminal operating while intoxicated offense because the defendant chose to exercise his constitutional right to refuse a warrantless draw of his blood.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The Facts surrounding the warrantless draw of Mr. Dalton's blood

Police were called to the scene of a single-car crash shortly after 10pm on December 12, 2013, to find Mr. Dalton unconscious in the driver's seat of a car flipped on its roof, with an odor of alcohol coming from his breath. (1;42:16;App.150). The passenger stood outside of the car, and told police that Mr. Dalton was drinking earlier in the evening but did not appear to be drunk. (1;42:16-18;App.150-152).

Medical rescue staff arrived, removed Mr. Dalton from the car, and transported him via helicopter to a hospital in another county. (1;42:19;App.153). Medical staff took the passenger to a different, nearby hospital via ambulance. (42:19;61:24;App.153,206). Deputy Stolz drove to attempt to speak with Mr. Dalton at the hospital. (42:19;App.153). Another officer drove to speak with the passenger at the second hospital. (61:24;App.206). At least four officers remained at the scene of the crash during this time. (61:24;App.206). Other than waiting for the tow truck to arrive, the record does not explain what, if anything, these four officers did while the other two officers traveled to the hospitals. *See* (61:24;App.206).

Deputy Stolz waited at the hospital until Mr. Dalton woke up and was able to talk to him. (42:19;App.153). He

read Mr. Dalton the "informing the accused pronouncement." (42:19;App.153). He asked Mr. Dalton if he could take a sample of his blood. Mr. Dalton refused, exclaiming: "No. Kiss my fucking ass. Get the fuck away from me." (42:19;App.153). At 12:14pm, roughly two hours after first arriving to the crash, Deputy Stolz, without a warrant, ordered the hospital nurse to take Mr. Dalton's blood. (42:19;App.153).

## B. Procedural history of the case

The State charged Mr. Dalton with one count of operating while intoxicated, second offense. (1). The State subsequently added additional charges of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration and operating after revocation. (9). The amended complaint noted that the laboratory analysis of Mr. Dalton's blood revealed a blood alcohol content of .238 grams of ethanol per 1000 milliliters of blood. (9).

Mr. Dalton's trial attorney never filed a motion to suppress the blood evidence taken from Mr. Dalton without a warrant. *See generally* (73-77).

Mr. Dalton entered a no contest plea to operating while intoxicated, second offense, and operating after revocation. (77). In exchange for his pleas, the State agreed to move to dismiss and read-in the count of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, as well as other traffic matters. (77: 1-2).

The circuit court sentenced Mr. Dalton the same day. (77). The court imposed the maximum sentence of one-hundred and eighty days in jail for operating while intoxicated and ninety days for operating after revocation,

with the two sentences ordered to run consecutively to each other and to any other sentence. (77:17-18). <sup>1</sup>

In imposing sentence, the circuit court explicitly stated that it was punishing Mr. Dalton more severely because he refused to consent to a blood draw:

The other thing you did is anybody who drives a motor vehicle in Wisconsin impliedly consents to a blood or breath draw after they're arrested. And you were arrested, and you disregarded that, and you will be punished for that today. You don't have the right not to consent. And that's going to result in a higher sentence for you.

## (77:16)(emphasis added).

Following his conviction, Mr. Dalton filed a post-conviction motion. (42;App.135-154). He argued that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel as his trial attorney failed to file a motion to suppress the blood forced from him without a warrant; he sought a *Machner*<sup>2</sup> hearing on this motion. (42:1,5-10,15;App.135,139-144,149). He accordingly sought plea withdrawal and suppression of the blood evidence. (42:15;App.149). He additionally sought resentencing on grounds that the court erroneously exercised its discretion by explicitly increasing his criminal punishment for exercising his constitutional right to refuse a warrantless draw of his blood. (42:13-15;App.147-149).<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defense counsel noted at sentencing that Mr. Dalton was at that time serving a revocation sentence in another matter of roughly two years and two months in prison, to be followed by fifteen months of extended supervision. (77:14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In his post-conviction motion, Mr. Dalton further sought plea withdrawal on grounds that the circuit court failed to explain, and he

The State filed a response, which included an affidavit from Deputy Stolz, who ordered the warrantless blood draw. (46;App.155-176). In this affidavit, Deputy Stolz asserted why he believed he did not have sufficient time to obtain a warrant: that he responded to the scene, and that once Mr. Dalton had been removed from his car, he drove to the hospital (where Mr. Dalton was being transported via Flight for Life) which took 30-40 minutes. (46:12;App.166). Deputy Stolz's affidavit noted that there were no "additional investigating officers with him" at the hospital, and that it was at the hospital that he decided to arrest Mr. Dalton. (46:12;App.166).

The affidavit further explained that Deputy Stolz was concerned about the need to:

maintain contact with Patrick Dalton to further investigate the accident and then to maintain custody of him after his arrest; the delay in obtaining a search warrant, including locating a judge in Washington County, drafting and reviewing a search warrant and affidavit, maintaining custody of Patrick Dalton during the process, and concerns related to distance/time constraints which affiant estimates to be between 60 minutes to 2 hours; concern related to Patrick Dalton's medical treatment and whether he would be given any medications and/or drugs which may interfere with the integrity and accuracy of a blood result; and based on affiant's training and experience, the knowledge that alcohol evidence does dissipate over time.

# (46:13;App.167).

failed to understand, his constitutional right to *not* testify at trial at the time he entered his plea. (42;App.135-154). He does not renew this argument on appeal. The court also granted his request to vacate the DNA surcharge previously imposed. (52;App.105).

Mr. Dalton filed a reply in support of the post-conviction motion, in which he questioned why Deputy Stolz would not have been able to either get a warrant himself or get another officer's help in obtaining a warrant at the scene, where Mr. Dalton was unconscious with multiple indicia of intoxication. (49:2;App.178). He further questioned why Deputy Stolz was unable to seek another officer's help in obtaining a warrant during the thirty to forty minutes in which he was driving to the hospital. (49:2;App.178).

Mr. Dalton noted that the "assertions and conclusions set forth in Deputy Stolz's affidavit," as well as whether counsel had any strategic reason for failing to bring a motion to suppress, needed "to be fleshed out at an evidentiary *Machner* hearing, where Mr. Dalton has the opportunity to question the Deputy and trial counsel." (49:3;App.179).

The circuit court, however, subsequently denied Mr. Dalton's post-conviction motion for plea withdrawal and suppression without an evidentiary hearing. (78;52;App.106-134). The circuit court also denied his claim for resentencing. (78:24-26;App.131-133).

The circuit court rested its decision denying his motion for plea withdrawal and suppression without an evidentiary hearing on Deputy Stolz's affidavit. The court explained:

So the deputy decided that he was not going to pursue the warrant at that time. The deputy at the time was with the defendant at the hospital a significant distance outside of Washington County. The deputy would have had to write up an affidavit and warrant, contact the duty judge in Washington County, get the judge to review and sign the warrant, and then travel back to the hospital all in the period of an hour.

(78:11;App.118). The court further cited the responsibilities Deputy Stolz had at the scene and the time constraints it believed that placed on his ability to get a warrant:

[T]his was not an ordinary traffic stop. In addition to the responsibilities of the ordinary traffic stop here, the deputy was at an accident and needed to secure the accident scene. He needed to examine the accident scene. He needed to talk to witnesses, and here, apparently, the defendant had to be extricated from the vehicle which is an unusual thing. Here he had to be gotten into an ambulance and transported to another location where he was moved from the ambulance into an emergency helicopter and taken to—transported to a trauma center. And there the officer followed him down there promptly, but he had to wait for the defendant to get cleared medically and in a hospital outside of Washington County.

# (78:17;App.124).

The court reasoned that there would have been no reason for Deputy Stolz to get a warrant while Mr. Dalton was unconscious because "the defendant had not even refused yet" and there was no reason for the deputy "to assume that this individual was going to—was going to refuse to do what he impliedly consents to do." (78:16;App.123).

With regard to Mr. Dalton's motion for resentencing, the court found that Mr. Dalton "ignores the long-standing repeated holdings of Wisconsin courts that a driver in Wisconsin has no right to refuse a chemical test". (78:24;App.131). The court concluded: "I know, everybody knows a court may not punish a person for exercise of the constitutional right, a right to trial, right to remain silent, but there is no right to refuse, so the Court has discretion and I think needs the responsibility to consider a refusal an

aggravating factor in sentencing an offender accordingly." (78:25;App.132).

Mr. Dalton then filed a motion for reconsideration concerning the court's denial of his motion for plea withdrawal and suppression without an evidentiary hearing. (61;App.183-206). He attached to the motion a full recording and partial transcription of Mr. Dalton's revocation hearing, in which both Deputy Stolz and a Deputy Vanderheiden testified about the police response to the crash. (61:7-26;App.189-206).<sup>4</sup>

Mr. Dalton noted that Deputy Vanderheiden testified that he arrived at the scene of the crash a few minutes after Deputy Stolz, and that after assisting at the scene, Deputy Stolz called him and asked to travel to the hospital to interview the passenger of the car. (61:22-23, lines 715-754). When asked who remained "back for the tow" when he went to the hospital, Deputy Vanderheiden testified: "there was I believe 4 deputies total on scene." (61:24, lines 789-90).

Mr. Dalton noted that this testimony—reflecting that there were four officers on scene after both Deputy Stolz and Deputy Vanderheiden had left—undermines the reasonableness of the assertions in Deputy Stolz's affidavit. (61:5). Mr. Dalton argued that the circuit court erred in denying the post-conviction motion without a *Machner* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The passenger in the car crash also testified at the hearing, as did Mr. Dalton's probation agent. The attached transcription, prepared by undersigned counsel's secretary, includes the testimony of all of the witnesses with the exception of Mr. Dalton's probation agent. The transcription also does not contain the Administrative Law Judge's final comments and the parties' final arguments. The attached copy of the recording, which has been included in the record before this Court, provides the entire hearing. (61:26).

hearing. (61:5;App.187). The State filed a written response in opposition to the motion for reconsideration. (64;App.207-208).

The circuit court denied Mr. Dalton's motion for reconsideration. (65;App.106-107). The court reaffirmed its prior conclusion that "there was no reason to get a warrant until the Defendant was arrested and refused the blood test"—that prior to his refusal, there was "no reason for an officer to even think about getting a warrant." (65:1;App.106).

Mr. Dalton now appeals.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Police Lacked the Exigent Circumstances Necessary to Forcibly Draw Mr. Dalton's Blood Without a Warrant. Mr. Dalton was Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel as His Attorney Failed to Move to Suppress the Unlawfully-Obtained Blood Evidence, and the Circuit Court Erred in Denying His Motion Without a Machner Hearing.
  - A. The record as it stands reflects that police lacked the exigent circumstances necessary to forcibly draw Mr. Dalton's blood without a warrant under *McNeely*.

We have perhaps no right more important than the right to control and protect our own bodies. Mr. Dalton lives with the knowledge that our government cannot intrude into his body without any judicial oversight absent a true emergency. U.S. const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art I, Section 11. When the State does intrude into our bodies without judicial authorization, it is the State's burden to prove that one of the few, limited emergency exceptions applied. *State* 

v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, p.34, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834.

That Mr. Dalton had been driving a car did not "diminish [his] privacy interest in preventing an agent of the government from piercing his skin." *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1565 (2013)(decision issued April 17, 2013). And that is why the United States Supreme Court in *Missouri v. McNeely*, rejected the notion—and longstanding rule in Wisconsin—that the natural dissipation of alcohol from a driver's bloodstream created a *per se* exigency allowing police to forego getting a warrant before forcing blood. *Id.* at 1556.

Instead, the Supreme Court held that the State must prove, on a case-by-case basis, whether exigent circumstances in fact existed to justify blood forced without a warrant. *Id.* "In those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so." *Id.* at 1561.

As the Court stressed, technological advances have accelerated the warrant process and blood alcohol evidence "dissipates over time in a gradual and relatively predictable manner". *Id.* As such, only rarely should police need to "undermin[e] the neutral magistrate judge's essential role as a check on police discretion" by forcing an individual's blood without first obtaining a warrant. *Id.* at 1562-1563.

Here, the State would have been unable to prove that required exigency. Instead of being "truly confronted with a now or never situation," *id.* at 1561, the record reflects that four police officers *other* than Deputy Stolz and Deputy Vanderheiden stayed at the scene and waited for a tow truck

to arrive, after Mr. Dalton had been taken to the hospital. (61:24;App.206). These officers could have helped obtain the warrant necessary to draw Mr. Dalton's blood, as required under *McNeely*.

The record as it stands fails to establish why the police officers assisting with this case would have had no time to seek a warrant in the two hours before Deputy Stolz chose to forcibly take Mr. Dalton's blood without a warrant.<sup>5</sup>

The circuit court concluded that Deputy Stolz would not have had any reason to try and obtain a warrant until Mr. Dalton regained consciousness and refused to give Deputy Stolz consent to draw his blood. (65:1;App.106). But to allow police to wait hours to see if an unconscious person regains consciousness before even attempting to obtain a warrant to draw the person's blood, only to then later claim that they did not have sufficient time to get a warrant, is in effect allowing police to create their own exigencies, which police cannot do. *See, e.g., State v. Kiekhefer*, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 569 N.W.2d 460 (Ct. App. 1997)("the government cannot justify a search on the basis of exigent circumstances that are of the law enforcement officers' own making").

Further, the court's conclusion fails to account for why, even once Mr. Dalton regained consciousness two hours after the accident, Deputy Stolz could not have called one of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Given that police waited until Mr. Dalton regained consciousness and affirmatively refused consent, the provisions of Wisconsin Statute §343.305(3)(ar), which reflect that police in certain circumstances have authority to draw a sample from a person involved in an accident, and that an unconscious person is presumed not to have withdrawn consent, are inapplicable here. *See* Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar). Though not at issue, these provisions also appear to be potentially unconstitutional under *McNeely*.

the many other officers still at the scene to seek assistance in obtaining a warrant. Indeed, at that point the police still had roughly an hour to obtain the blood sample before concerns about its validity or admissibility based on dissipation would arise. *See* Wis. Stat. § 885.235(1g)(explaining that if a blood sample is taken more than three hours after an automobile accident, the blood draw evidence is admissible only if an expert testifies to its accuracy).

The circuit court also emphasized that Deputy Stolz did not place Mr. Dalton under arrest until he was at the hospital. *See*, *e.g.*, (65:1;App.106). But Mr. Dalton's arrest was not a prerequisite to police attempting to obtain a blood sample from him. *See State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 55, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120 ("[a]n arrest is not a prerequisite to a warrantless blood draw justified by probable cause and exigent circumstances").

Compare the facts of this case to those of *State v*. *Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed whether police had exigent circumstances to conduct a post-*McNeely* warrantless blood draw following a car accident. Police in *Tullberg* arrived to the scene of a fatal car crash, where "[n]o witnesses were available to be interviewed." *Id.*, ¶ 45. The defendant was not at the scene; instead, his father arrived a few minutes after the first responding officer and was "frantic." *Id.* Police had to travel to the defendant's mother's house and then to a hospital roughly thirty minutes away to attempt to interview the defendant. *Id.*, ¶ 46. The defendant then lied to police and said that the deceased man was the driver of the car; thus, the police had to do further investigation to try and determine who in fact had been driving. *Id.*, ¶ 47.

Thus, was not until "more than two and a half hours after the accident" that police had sufficient probable cause to believe that the defendant had been driving under the influence." *Id.* At that point, hospital staff were about to perform a CT scan on Tullberg. *Id.*, ¶ 48.

The Court concluded that the deputy who ordered the warrantless blood draw, "confronted with such an accident scene and obstruction of his investigation, conducted himself reasonably." *Id.*, ¶ 47. The Court noted that "[i]f anything, Tullberg's actions, rather that the deputy's, necessitated the warrantless blood draw." *Id.*, ¶ 44. Importantly, the Court concluded that the police did not "improperly delay in obtaining a warrant" because police "did not have probable cause to believe that Tullberg operated the motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant until nearly three hours after the accident." *Id.*

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