STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

APR 1 1 2016

CLEIK OF COURT OF APPEALS

CF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP000006-CR Circuit Court Case No. 2014-CM-117

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

PATRICK H. DALTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

STEPHANIE L. HANSON Deputy District Attorney State Bar Number 1025050

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Washington County District Attorney Post Office Box 1986 West Bend, W1 53095-7986 Stephanie.Hanson@da.wi.gov (262) 335-4311 (Phone)

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

ARGUMENT

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT FILING A MERITLESS MOTION TO SUPPRESS BLOOD RESULTS UNDER *MISSOURI* v. *MCNEELY*, 569 U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013).

Mr. Dalton sought to withdraw his plea alleging that trial counsel, Attorney Amber Herda, was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress blood results under *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. __, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). A post-sentencing plea withdrawal motion should be granted only to correct a manifest injustice. *State v. Duychak*, 133 Wis. 2d 307, 312, 395 N.W.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1986). The defendant bears the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that a manifest injustice exists. *State v. Lee*, 88 Wis. 2d 239, 248, 276 N.W.2d 268 (1979).

Ineffective assistance of counsel can constitute a manifest injustice. State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). To establish ineffective assistance, a defendant must show both that counsel's performance was deficient and that he or she was prejudiced by the

deficient performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). An attorney is not deficient for failing to pursue a meritless motion. State v. Wheat, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 23, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441. "Failure to raise an issue of law is not deficient performance if the legal issue is later determined to be without merit." Wheat, 2002 WI App at ¶14; State v. Cummings, 199 Wis. 2d 721, 747 n.10, 546 N.W.2d 406 (1996).

Mr. Dalton claims that trial counsel should have brought a motion to suppress the blood results under *McNeely*, and that had the blood results been suppressed, he would not have entered a plea. The circuit court specifically found that trial counsel was neither ineffective, nor was her performance deficient, for failing to file a meritless *McNeely* motion. [R.78:18] Therefore, the circuit court concluded that Mr. Dalton had not established that he was entitled to withdraw his plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel. [R.78:18]

Review of an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact. *See State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. An appellate court utilizes a two-step inquiry when presented with a question of constitutional fact. *See id.* The court must (1) review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under a deferential standard, upholding them unless they are clearly erroneous; and (2) independently apply constitutional principles to

those facts. *Id.* When determining whether exigent circumstances justified a warrantless search and whether a law enforcement officer had probable cause, the court applies this two-step inquiry. *See id.* at ¶ 28.

In McNeely, the Supreme Court held that "the natural metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream" does not create a "per se exigency that justifies an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement for nonconsensual blood testing in all drunk-driving cases." McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1556. However, the McNeely Court left open the possibility that exigent circumstances could still exist in drunk-driving investigations sufficient to justify conducting a blood test without a warrant. See McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1568; see also, Tullberg, 2014 WI 134 at ¶ 42. The exigent circumstances exception "applies when the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that a warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1558 (citation omitted). The Court noted several circumstances that could make obtaining a warrant impractical, such as "special facts," id. at 1557, 1560, 1561, significant delay in testing will negatively affect the probative value of the results, id. at 1561, 1568, and potential delays in the warrant application process, id. at 1562-63, 1568.

A warrantless, nonconsensual blood draw of a suspected drunken driver complies with the Fourth Amendment if: (1) there was probable cause to believe the blood would furnish evidence of a crime; (2) the blood was drawn under exigent circumstances; (3) the blood was drawn in a reasonable manner; and (4) the suspect did not reasonably object to the blood draw.

Tullberg, 2014 WI 134 at ¶ 31 (citing Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 769-71 (1966))(quoted source omitted). Except for exigency, Mr. Dalton concedes that the four requirements outlined in Schmerber for conducting a lawful search and seizure of a person's blood incident to arrest were satisfied.¹ "Whether a warrantless blood test of a drunk-driving suspect is reasonable must be determined in a case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1563.

Mr. Dalton's trial attorney was not deficient for failing to pursue the meritless motion to suppress under *McNeely*. The totality of circumstances of this case gave rise to the existence of exigent circumstances and supported Deputy Stolz's reasonable belief that the additional delay necessary to obtain a search warrant would result in the dissipation of the percentage of alcohol in Mr. Dalton's blood which would interfere with the integrity and accuracy of the blood result.

Deputy Stolz had probable cause to arrest Mr. Dalton for operating while intoxicated only after he made contact with him at the hospital. Deputy Stolz had received information that Mr. Dalton had been consuming an unknown amount of alcohol prior to driving. He learned

¹ According to Deputy Stolz's police reports and affidavit, Mr. Dalton's blood was drawn at Froedtert Medical Center in a sterile room at the hospital, in a medically accepted manner by a registered nurse, and was completed without any difficulties or objections utilizing methods typically associated with a blood draw. [R.46:13, 18] *Cf. Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 771 (1966)(the blood test was a reasonable way to recover the evidence because it "involve[d] virtually no risk, trauma, or pain," was conducted in a reasonable fashion "in a hospital environment according to accepted medical practices.")

Mr. Dalton was driving recklessly resulting in the rollover accident. Deputy Stolz noted a strong odor of intoxicants from Mr. Dalton, Mr. Dalton's eyes were glassy and bloodshot, Mr. Dalton's eye movements appeared lethargic, and Mr. Dalton gave an aggressive blank stare. Due to the accident, Deputy Stolz was unable to have Mr. Dalton perform any standard field sobriety tests.

With the serious nature of the crash and Mr. Dalton's condition at the scene – unresponsive and unconscious – Deputy Stolz did not have an opportunity, prior to Mr. Dalton's transport to Froedtert Medical Center, to complete his investigation into the crash. Deputy Stolz was able to speak to Mr. Dalton at Froedtert Medical Center. After speaking to and observing Mr. Dalton, Deputy Stolz concluded that Mr. Dalton was under the influence of an intoxicant and placed him under arrest.

At 12:05 a.m., on December 13, 2013, approximately two (2) hours since the time of driving, Deputy Stolz read the informing the accused to Mr. Dalton and Mr. Dalton refused to consent to the blood draw. Deputy Stolz needed to make an immediate decision on whether or not to attempt to obtain a search warrant for Mr. Dalton's blood sample. Deputy Stolz knew two (2) hours had elapsed, he knew it would take between one (1) hour and two (2) hours minimum to secure a search warrant which would fall outside the three-hour rule and the delay would significantly undermine the efficacy of the search, that is, the delay would jeopardize and threaten

the destruction of evidence. Deputy Stolz believed that he was confronted with an emergency in which the delay necessary to obtain a search warrant would likely affect dissipation of alcohol in Mr. Dalton's bloodstream and the viability of the blood as evidence. [R.46:13; R.78:10-12, 15-18] The circuit court so found and those findings are not clearly erroneous.

The circuit court correctly determined Wisconsin's three-hour rule, under § 885.235, Wis. Stat., to be an appropriate factor to consider in determining whether exigency justified a warrantless nonconsensual blood draw. Section 885.235 Wis. Stat., is the legislative edict that a properly authenticated sample taken within three hours is presumptively admissible. See State v. Disch, 119 Wis. 2d 461, 470-72, 351 N.W.2d 492 (1984).

McNeely does not specifically address or prohibit consideration of three hours in the determination of exigency. Rather, the *McNeely* court specifically noted,

the metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream and the ensuing loss of evidence are among the factors that *must* be considered in deciding whether a warrant is required. No doubt, ... cases will arise when anticipated delays in obtaining a warrant will justify a blood test without judicial authorization, for in every case the law *must* be concerned that evidence is being destroyed.

McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1568 (emphasis added). Nothing in McNeely overturns the statutory directive of § 885.235, Wis. Stat. Consideration of the three-hour rule in obtaining a blood sample without a search warrant is reasonable.

Courts have recognized that evidence of alcohol in the bloodstream is highly probative because the driver's blood alcohol concentration level alone is enough to obtain a driving with a prohibited alcohol concentration conviction. A conviction for driving with a prohibited alcohol concentration requires a minimum concentration of blood alcohol; thus, the amount of alcohol (and the dissipation of alcohol) in the blood is relevant to a conviction. *See e.g., State v. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10, ¶ 82-83, 367 Wis. 2d 1, 875 N.W.2d 619 (Bradley, J., dissenting).

Mr. Dalton further contends that Deputy Stolz had probable cause to arrest him immediately at the scene of the accident and he should have attempted to obtain a search warrant for his blood at that time, shortly after 10:07 p.m. Mr. Dalton wants this Court to engage in Monday-night quarterbacking of Deputy Stolz's judgment of probable cause for an arrest. According to Mr. Dalton, Deputy Stolz should not have taken the time to complete a thorough investigation, but rather should have sought to obtain blood after a cursory one. Mr. Dalton's argument is misguided.

Exigent circumstances framework does not evaluate at what point during the investigation the officer should have sought to get a search warrant. Rather, the exigency analysis focuses on whether, under the totality of the circumstances, exigent circumstances justified the warrantless blood draw based on the facts that existed at the time of the warrantless draw. *Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134 at ¶ 42. Would a reasonable law

enforcement officer, confronted with this accident scene and these circumstances, reasonably conclude that the totality of the circumstances rendered a warrantless blood draw necessary. See id. at ¶ 43. The test is "an objective one based on 'the circumstances known to the officer at the time," Parisi, 2016 WI 10 at ¶ 45 (citation omitted), that recognize officers are often forced to make "split-second judgments." Id. at ¶ 50 n. 15.

While an officer should not improperly delay, creating the exigent circumstances, *see Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134 at ¶ 44, the circuit court explored the circumstances facing Deputy Stolz and found that Deputy Stolz could not have gotten to the point where he needed to make a decision for the warrantless blood draw any sooner. [R.78:17] The circuit court further noted that Mr. Dalton did not engage in any dilatory tactic either, but that the delay was caused by the highly unusual or special factors including significant medical issues that needed to be addressed with Mr. Dalton. [R.78:17-18]

Although the delay was not occasioned by Mr. Dalton, much like the deputy in *Tullberg*, Deputy Stolz reasonably responded to the accident, secured the scene, ensured appropriate medical treatment for Mr. Dalton, investigated the matter, and once it was clear no additional information would be gleaned from Mr. Dalton, he was left with a very narrow time frame in which Mr. Dalton's blood could be drawn so as to produce reliable

evidence of intoxication. See Tullberg, 2014 WI 134 at ¶¶ 49-50; see also, Parisi, 2016 WI 10 at ¶¶ 12-13, 41, 50 n.15 (The Supreme court held it was reasonable for officer to wait two hours in waiting room until Parisi was medically cleared for nonconsensual warrantless blood draw). Delaying the blood draw would have significantly undermined its efficacy. See McNeely, 133 S.Ct at 1561. Exigent circumstances justified the warrantless blood draw of Mr. Dalton's blood. Deputy Stolz acted reasonably.

The fact that other deputies had initially been dispatched to the accident scene does not undermine the reasonableness of Deputy Stolz's decision to forego a search warrant. The circuit court found that due to the highly unusual factors of this accident, the request for a blood test was delayed. [R.78:17] The delay was not caused by Deputy Stolz or Mr. Dalton – it was, in part, due to Mr. Dalton's significant medical issues that needed to be addressed prior to the officer having contact with him. [R.78:17-18] Deputy Stolz did not create the exigency. *Cf. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10 at ¶ 50 n. 15 (Supreme Court rejected Parisi's arguments that a warrant could have been pursued because of five to seven officers involved in the case and the delay that occurred while hospital staff stabilized Parisi. "[T]he exigency is not eliminated merely because there are multiple officers at the scene.")

Moreover, as the circuit court recognized, Deputy Stolz had no reason to believe that Mr. Dalton would refuse to do what he impliedly consents to do every time he elects to operate a motor vehicle in Wisconsin. [R.78:16] Wisconsin courts have interpreted the implied consent law as recognizing that alcohol concentration, i.e., evidence of intoxication, dissipates with time and thereby impacts the relevance and admissibility of the blood test. *See State v. Piddington*, 2001 WI 24, ¶ 43 n. 24, 241 Wis. 2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528 (time is of the essence in obtaining evidence of blood alcohol concentration for both the State and defendants). There is no way Deputy Stolz could have gotten to the point where Mr. Dalton refused any sooner; and when he did, Deputy Stolz needed to make an immediate decision between exigency or warrant.

As the circuit court aptly pointed out, this was not an ordinary traffic stop like *McNeely*. Rather, as in *Schmerber*, Deputy Stolz was faced with "special facts." *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 771. Deputy Stolz had the additional responsibilities of an accident investigation, interviewing a witness, assessing and arranging for medical treatment in another county for Mr. Dalton, driving to another county to continue the investigation, the delay in making contact with Mr. Dalton due to medical issues that needed to be addressed, the delays and practicality of obtaining a search warrant

especially within three hours between the driving and the execution of the search warrant.²

Under the totality of all of those circumstances facing Deputy Stolz at approximately 12:05 a.m., he believed that this was an emergency, and the delay would jeopardize and threaten the destruction of evidence – that is the dissipation of alcohol in Mr. Dalton's blood. The determination by Deputy Stolz, under the particular circumstances of this case, were reasonable and therefore, a search warrant was not required. *See Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 770-71.

Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to file a meritless motion to suppress under *McNeely*. Failure to raise that issue did not constitute deficient performance. The determination was properly made by the circuit court without the need for testimonial evidence.³ As a result, Mr. Dalton has not established that he is entitled to withdraw his plea based on ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

While not addressed by the circuit court, Deputy Stolz had arrested Mr. Dalton – he was in custody at the time of the warrantless blood draw. Deputy Stolz was confronted with a decision: maintain custody of Mr. Dalton; or relinquish custody to obtain a warrant himself; or attempt to obtain a warrant with the assistance of another deputy, assuming one was available. This too was a consideration for Deputy Stolz. [R.46:13]

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